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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ALASKA

GARY TRUITT,

Plaintiff,

vs.

DOYON DRILLING, INC.,
Defendant.

Case No. 3:08-cv-0020-TMB

O R D E R
Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment and Denying Defendant’s Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment 

I.  INTRODUCTION

At Docket No. 26, Defendant Doyon Drilling, Inc. (“Defendant”) moved for partial

summary judgment on the Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) claims asserted by Plaintiff

Gary Truitt (“Plaintiff”).  Plaintiff opposes Defendant’s request and cross-moved for partial

summary judgment, requesting the Court find Defendant violated the FMLA.   For the reasons1

outlined below, the Court DENIES Defendant’s motion and GRANTS Plaintiff’s motion for

partial summary judgment.

II. BACKGROUND  

           On December 28, 2007, Gary Truitt initiated this lawsuit by filing a complaint alleging

claims for violation of the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Age Discrimination in

Employment Act and the Alaska Human Rights Act.   Prior to initiating the lawsuit, Mr. Truitt2

was employed by Defendant Doyon Drilling as a mechanic and worked a two weeks on, two

weeks off rotation.

In 2006 Mr. Truitt suffered from two serious medical conditions which caused him to be

absent from work.  In January 2006, Mr. Truitt sustained a foot infection and, as a result, could
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not attend work from January 23, 2006 until March 10, 2006.  Secondly, in June 2006, Mr. Truitt

suffered a heart attack and underwent emergency cardiac arterial bypass graft surgery on June 23,

2006.  Consequently, Mr. Truitt did not attend work on June 22, 2006 and was not medically

cleared to resume his employment until October 2, 2006.  According to the complaint, Defendant

terminated Mr. Truitt on or about June 30, 2006.    Thereafter, Plaintiff applied to be reinstated as3

a mechanic with Defendant on September 29, 2006 and Defendant denied his request.

III.  LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate if, when viewing the evidence in the light most

favorable to the non-moving party, there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving

party is entitled to judgment in its favor as a matter of law.   The moving party bears the initial4

burden of proof as to each material fact upon which it has the burden of persuasion at trial.   This5

requires the moving party to establish, beyond controversy, every essential element of its claim or

defense.   “When the party moving for summary judgment would bear the burden of proof at6

trial, it must come forward with evidence which would entitle it to a directed verdict if the same

evidence were to be uncontroverted at trial.  In such a case, the moving party has the initial

burden of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of fact on each issue material to its case.”7

Once the moving party has met its burden, the nonmoving party must demonstrate that a

genuine issue of material fact exists by presenting evidence indicating that certain facts are so

disputed that a fact-finder must resolve the dispute at trial.    The court must view this evidence in8
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the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, must not assess its credibility, and must draw all

justifiable inferences from it in favor of the nonmoving party.9

IV.  DISCUSSION

The Family and Medical Leave Act provides that eligible employees are “entitled to a

total of 12 workweeks of leave during any 12-month period” if “[b]ecause of a serious health

condition ... the employee [is] unable to perform the functions of [his or her employment]

position.”   10

Plaintiff contends that, as of October 2, 2006, he had not exhausted the twelve weeks of

leave time provided under the Family and Medical Leave Act.  To calculate FMLA leave time,

Plaintiff argues that Defendant may only reduce Plaintiff’s FMLA leave entitlement for those

weeks that Plaintiff was scheduled to report to work.  Accordingly, Plaintiff concludes that

“under the plain language of the FMLA and its interpreting regulations, if an employee is not

scheduled to report to work, the time period involved may not be counted as FMLA leave time as

a matter of law.”11

In contrast, Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s FMLA leave entitlement expired on July 31,

2006.   In calculating Plaintiff’s FMLA leave period, Defendant counted each calendar week12

that Plaintiff was absent, regardless of whether Plaintiff was scheduled to work.  As a result,

Defendant counted the approximately two weeks per month that Plaintiff was not scheduled to

report for duty in reducing Plaintiff’s FMLA leave time.   Utilizing this calculation method,13

Defendant concluded that Plaintiff’s available FMLA leave expired before Plaintiff was

medically certified to resume his employment on October 2, 2006.
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In moving for partial summary judgment, Plaintiff contends that Defendant violated the

FMLA by applying its calendar week analysis to a  rotational employee.  In response, Defendant

moved for an order finding that Defendant lawfully counted each calendar week in calculating

Plaintiff’s FMLA leave entitlement.  Therefore, to determine whether either party is entitled to

partial summary judgment, the Court must determine the proper method for calculating FMLA

leave for an employee working a two weeks on, two weeks off rotational schedule. 

The Court finds that Congress has not “directly spoken to the precise question” of how to

calculate FMLA leave entitlement for a rotational employee.   Accordingly, the FMLA is14

ambiguous or silent with respect to this particular issue.  However, any ambiguity in interpreting

Section 2612(a)(1)(D) of the FMLA is dispelled by the preamble accompanying and explaining

the regulation.  The preamble unequivocally states: “An employee’s FMLA leave entitlement

may only be reduced for time which the employee would otherwise be required to report for duty,

but for the taking of leave.  If the employee is not scheduled to report for work, the time period

involved may not be counted as FMLA leave.”   In the preamble the Department of Labor noted15

that “an absence taken when the employee would not otherwise be required to report for duty is

not leave, FMLA or otherwise.”16

The Department of Labor promulgated the preamble to the final FMLA regulations

pursuant to its authority to “prescribe such regulations as are necessary to carry out” Title I and

Title IV of the FMLA.   The preamble contains the Department of Labor’s official interpretation17

of the Act and must be upheld “if it is based on a permissible construction of the statute.”  18

Deference is generally accorded to an federal agency’s interpretation of its regulations “based in

part on the expertise [the agency] possesses in implementing federal policy in the general subject
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area.”   Additionally, federal agencies such as the Department of Labor “are also entitled to19

deference because their activities are subject to continuous congressional supervision by virtue of

Congress’s powers of advice and consent, appropriation, and oversight.”   20

Therefore, the Court must grant deference to the Department of Labor’s interpretation

unless it is arbitrary, capricious or manifestly contrary to the statute.   The agency’s21

interpretation would be arbitrary and capricious if it conflicted with the statute or if the “agency

... relied on factors which Congress had not intended it to consider, entirely failed to consider an

important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation for its decision that runs counter to

evidence before the agency, or is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in

view or the product of the agency’s expertise.”22

The Court finds the Department of Labor’s statement - that an employee’s FMLA leave

time may not be reduced by periods the employee is not scheduled to work - is a permissible

construction of the Act.   The Department of Labor’s interpretation sensibly conforms to the23

purpose and language of the regulation and is not clearly erroneous.  Therefore, the Court accords

deference to the Department of Labor’s interpretation of § 2612(a)(1)(D) of the Family and

Medical Leave Act.  In calculating Plaintiff’s available FMLA leave entitlement, Defendant may

only deduct the workweeks that Plaintiff was scheduled to report for duty but was unable to do so

because of a serious health condition. 

Defendant contends that this position is contrary to the approach adopted by the court in
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the unpublished opinion Button v. Alaska Petroleum Contractors.   In that case, the court24

concluded that, in calculating FMLA leave time for a rotational employee, “the proper approach

is to add the total hours worked during the entire on/off cycle, then divide by the length of the

cycle to come up with the average number of hours per week, and finally multiply by 12 to

determine the FMLA leave entitlement measured in work hours... In effect, this means that the

‘off’ weeks do count toward the 12 weeks of FMLA leave.”  

The Court respectfully disagrees with the Button decision for several reasons.  First, the

opinion in Button failed to consider the Department of Labor’s statements in the preamble to the

FMLA.  Secondly, the court in Button relied upon 29 C.F.R. § 825.205(d) in formulating its

conclusion.  However, this Section is applicable to employees whose “schedule varies from week

to week.”   Recent regulations clarify that Section 825.205(d) only applies if “an employee’s25

schedule varies from week to week to such an extent that an employer is unable to determine

with any certainty how many hours the employee would otherwise have worked (but for the

taking of FMLA leave).”   In the present case, Plaintiff’s expected work schedule was known. 26

Indeed, the parties have stipulated to Plaintiff’s two week on, two week off rotation.  There is no

need to use the calculation provided in Section 825.205(d) to determine Plaintiff’s hypothetical

work schedule.  Lastly, Section 825.205(d) only provides for intermittent or reduced schedule

leave.  This Section is inapplicable in the present case as Plaintiff took consecutive leave after

suffering serious health conditions.   In light of the foregoing, the Court finds that the Button27

decision is not controlling and declines to follow it. 

Defendant also argues that Plaintiff’s FMLA leave must be calculated according to its
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payroll and accounting practice of scheduling workweeks to begin on Monday at 12:00 a.m. and

end on the following Sunday at 11:59 p.m.   Although Defendant admits that Plaintiff worked a28

two weeks on, two weeks off rotation, it contends that Plaintiff’s rotation occurred over three of

Defendant’s Monday through Sunday workweeks.  Utilizing this calculation Defendant

concludes that Plaintiff’s FMLA leave expired on or about September 3, 2006.   The Court finds29

that Defendant’s workweek calculation is contrary to the position adopted by the Department of

Labor, contravenes 29 C.F.R. § 825.200(b), and is not supported by the text of the FMLA.  

First, if the Court adopted Defendant’s workweek calculation Plaintiff would be charged

FMLA leave time for periods when Plaintiff was not scheduled to work.  Defendant’s workweek

definition would effectively change Plaintiff’s two weeks on, two weeks off rotation to a three

weeks on, one week off schedule.  In accordance with this schedule, during each rotation Plaintiff

would be charged six days of FMLA leave time for periods that Plaintiff was not required to

report to work.  Therefore, Defendant’s position conflicts with the Department of Labor’s

position as stated in the preamble.  Indeed, the Department of Labor addressed this precise issue

in formulating the preamble, noting: “The Society for Human Resource Management questioned

how a week of FMLA leave would be counted for employees who work seven days and then are

off for seven days.  An employee’s FMLA leave entitlement may only be reduced for time which

the employee would otherwise be required to report for duty, but for the taking of the leave.”   In30

contrast to Defendant’s position, the Department of Labor did not calculate whether the

employee’s seven week rotation corresponded to the employer’s payroll and accounting practice

of scheduling workweeks.

Secondly, Defendant’s workweek definition contravenes 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(b), which

prohibits an employer from “interfering with, restraining, or denying the exercise of rights

provided by the act.  ‘Interfering with’ the exercise of an employee’s rights would include ...

manipulation by a covered employer to avoid responsibilities under the FMLA.”  If the Court
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were to adopt Defendant’s workweek definition, employers would be permitted to define their

workweeks and schedule their employees’ rotations to reduce the amount of FMLA leave their

employees are entitled.  Similarly, Plaintiff would be deprived of the FMLA leave that has been

conferred to him under the Act. 

Third, Defendant’s suggestion that an employer may define its workweek according to

accounting and payroll policies rather than an employee’s actual schedule is not supported by the

text or purpose of the FMLA.  Defendant acknowledges that Plaintiff worked a two weeks on,

two weeks off rotation.  During his work rotation, Plaintiff worked as a mechanic for 12 hours a

day for 14 days in a row.  Defendant’s theory that Plaintiff actually worked three weeks on, and

one week off is at odds with the facts and violates the FMLA. 

In light of the foregoing, the Court concludes that Plaintiff had not exhausted his FMLA

leave entitlement by the time he was medically certified to resume employment on October 2,

2006.  Accordingly, the Court grants Plaintiff partial summary judgment on this issue.

Lastly, the Court finds that Defendant’s failure to advise Plaintiff of his rights under the

FMLA on June 22, 2006 violated the Act.  Pursuant to the regulations imposed by the

Department of Labor, an employee is obligated “to communicate with employees regarding their

rights under the FMLA.  In particular, the regulations require employers to provide employees

with individualized notice of their FMLA rights and obligations.”   As a result, each time an31

employee requests leave, the employer is required within a reasonable time thereafter to “provide

the employee with written notice detailing the specific expectations and obligations of the

employee and explaining any consequences of a failure to meet these obligations.”   Both parties32

concede that Defendant did not inform Plaintiff of his rights under the FMLA on or after June 22,

2006.

Defendant contends that, under the FMLA, written notice of an employee’s right to leave

“must be provided to the employee no less often than the first time in each six-month period that
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an employee gives notice of the need for FMLA leave.”   Defendant provided Plaintiff with33

notice of his FMLA leave entitlement in conjunction with his first injury on January 24, 2006. 

Therefore, Defendant argues that it was not required to provide Plaintiff with a second notice of

his FMLA rights five months later on June 22, 2006.   34

However, the FMLA provides that “if the employer is requiring medical certification or a

‘fitness-for-duty’ report, written notice of the requirement shall be given” regardless of whether

the employee had received a general FMLA notice within the prior six months.   Both parties35

concede that Plaintiff was required to obtain medical clearance before resuming his employment

on October 2, 2006.  Defendant’s January 24, 2006 notice did not “clearly provided that

certification or a ‘fitness-for-duty’ report would be required (e.g., by stating that certification

would be required in all cases, by stating that certification would be required in all cases in which

leave of more than a specified number of days is taken, or by stating that a ‘fitness-for-duty’

report would be required in all cases for back injuries for employees in a certain occupation).”  36

Rather, Defendant’s January 24, 2006 notice merely provided that “[e]mployees whose leave has

been medically necessary because of their own serious health condition may be required to

provide a fitness-for-duty report as a condition of their return to work.”   As a result, the Court37

concludes that the prior notice was not sufficient to satisfy Defendant’s obligation to provide

Plaintiff with notice of his FMLA leave entitlement. 

Plaintiff may not prevail on its claim that Defendant failed to notify him of his FMLA

entitlement on or after June 22, 2006 unless Plaintiff can demonstrate that he “has been

prejudiced by the violation.”   Plaintiff may establish prejudice by showing that Defendant’s38
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“failure to advise rendered him unable to exercise [his rights under the FMLA] in a meaningful

way, thereby causing injury.”   39

The Court finds that Plaintiff was prejudiced by Defendant’s failure to advise him of his

FMLA entitlement.  If Defendant had properly calculated Plaintiff’s FMLA time, Plaintiff would

have had sufficient leave to allow him to be absent from work until he was fully recuperated on

October 2, 2006.  Defendant’s failure to inform Plaintiff of his rights under the FMLA prevented

Plaintiff from calculating his leave properly and in an informed manner.  Accordingly, the Court

grants Plaintiff’s partial summary judgment as to his claim that Defendant failed to advise

Plaintiff of his rights under the FMLA. 

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons outlined above, the Court DENIES Defendant’s motion at Docket No. 26

and GRANTS Plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment at Docket No. 30.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 17th day of June 2010. 

/s/ Timothy Burgess           
TIMOTHY M. BURGESS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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